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19. Architectural Description

The Lewis H. Guffin House is a two-story, 2400-square-foot structure built in 1899 that has
Craftsman, shingle-style, and classical revival influences. It is a wood frame house sheathed with
clapboard siding on the first level and cedar shakes on the second level. It has a medium pitched
hip roof with wide boxed eaves and decorative brackets. The house is square in plan, relatively
symmetrical, and has a full-width porch with a wide central front door flanked by sidelights and
large symmetrically placed casement and transom windows. Located above the entry door is a
second story hip roof dormer over a balcony.

The sides of the house feature several first-floor windows, all original. Each side has one wooden
casement window with a transom above it (making four casement/transom pairs on the first
floor). On the south elevation, a dormer is the only window on the second floor. On the north
elevation, there are not second-story windows, but the first floor features a pair of French doors
leading to a side entrance. The rear elevation of the house has two wooden double-hung sash
windows and one large picture window next to a rear entrance. The upstairs has two windows
facing the rear elevation: a double-hung sash window and a casement pair. All windows in the
house are original and made of Douglas fir.

The interior of the house maintains its original floor plan, and has all original interior doors
(raised five-panel doors) and largely the original interior trim and casings. It has painted Douglas
fir floors. It is three rooms wide (dining room, living room, and office/bedroom), with a kitchen
in the back corner and a large rear hallway that leads to the laundry room (originally a pantry),
back door, and downstairs bathroom. The stairway can be accessed off of the center room or the
back hallway. The stairway is U-shaped with a bottom landing (two steps up) and a second about
two-thirds up. The top of the stairs has a curved wood skirt to offset the railing at the top of the
second floor. The second floor has wide painted Douglas fir planks. Three bedrooms and a
bathroom are accessed from a small hallway. The bathtub features a cast-iron clawfoot tub
stamped 1899, the same year the house was built. The balcony is accessible from the
middle/front bedroom.

The house was designed by Augustus W. Boggs (1848-1913), with Frank Noyes as contractor
(Riverside Enterprise, 9/23/1899). The original contract price was $1865, and was built between
late September and early December 1899 (Riverside Daily Press, 12/8/1899). It was originally
located at Vine and First Street, built so that it would “command a full view down the center of
Vine Street” (Enterprise, 9/24/1899), which then dead-ended at First. The original owner was
Lewis Guffin and his wife Ruth. Lewis Guffin was a citrus farmer and nursery grower who
owned acreage on the northeast corner of Riverside’s downtown and in Eastside. (The Guffin
House was originally surrounded by orange groves.) Guffin was born in 1848 in Indiana, and
moved to Riverside in 1887 with his wife Ruth, and three children (Allen, Emmet, and Grace).
By the time Guffin built this house, his children were grown and the Guffins were grandparents.
His younger son, Emmet, lived in the house briefly with them, before relocating to Los Angeles.
Lewis and Ruth Guffin remained in the house until Lewis’s death in 1929. After Lewis’s death,
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Ruth moved with her daughter, son-in-law, and grandchildren in Central California. The house
was then owned by the McProud family (an accountant and his wife), and ultimately owners

Glen and Cora Bodie subdivided the land in 1955 (Planning Department, P04-0107). The house
was purportedly owned by racecar driver Dan Gurney for a time (Memo, Curl to CHB, 2/8/88).

The house was originally deemed Structure of Merit #95 in 1988, when it was nominated by
Sally Silva, a previous owner of the property. The property was bought by CalTrans in 2003
when planning began on the 91/60/215 freeway expansion. The property was temporarily
relocated to Spruce and Kansas, and was sold at auction in 2003 to Beatrice Rios, with the
understanding that she move the home to a new permanent location. Ms. Rios moved the house
to its current location circa 2006, which was originally a Union Pacific Railroad right of way.
(Two other houses were relocated adjacent to the Guffin House, and Twogood Street was created
along the right of way, as well.) The house is just outside of the current boundaries for the St.
Andrews Terraces NCA, and when its move was approved by the Cultural Heritage Board, the
report noted how the house would complement the bungalows and other period architecture in
this district. The current owners, James and Leigh Gleason, bought the house in December 2016,
and have been repairing and restoring it. They installed a fifty-year roof in 2017, and received a
grant from the Old Riverside Foundation in the same year to repair a leak in the balcony.

Although the house’s physical location has changed, a photograph of the Guffin House in the
1906 Souvenir of the City of Riverside (p. 114, top picture, also attached) shows that its exterior
has had only minor tweaks that largely seem to reflect more modern safety regulations. Since
1906, a dormer has been added to an upstairs bedroom, the chimneys are now gone (a byproduct
of the house move), and the balcony height appears to be slightly higher (presumably to align
with current building code), although still constructed of shakes as it was originally.
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20. Statement of Significance

Previously, the Guffin House was Structure of Merit #95, although having been moved its
designation is not current. The Guffin House, designed by Augustus W. Boggs in 1899, is
eligible for designation as a Structure of Merit because:

The house “represents the work of a notable builder, designer, or architect, or important
creative individual,” however, because of the property’s relocation “no longer exhibits
the high degree of integrity sufficient for Landmark designation, yet still retains sufficient
integrity under one or more of the Landmark criteria to convey cultural resource
significance as a Structure of Merit.”

The house has had minor alterations since Boggs built it, with the addition of a dormer to a
secondary bedroom, the removal of the chimneys, and the adjustment of the balcony wall height.
Other than this, the house looks largely as it did when Boggs designed it, based especially on the
1906 photograph in Souvenir of the City of Riverside. Therefore, it is significant as a largely
intact example of Boggs’ domestic architecture. The house’s most notable alteration was its
relocation from 3197 1st Street to 2926 Lime Street, and in its current state this move challenges
its ability to be a City Landmark. However, being a largely intact example of Boggs’ domestic
architecture, it warrants status as a Structure of Merit.

Boggs is an interesting architect in this city because of the variety of styles in which he worked.
Unlike some of Riverside’s other prominent architects (Spurgeon, Jekel, etc.), Boggs seemed
especially keen to design for his clients, their tastes, and their budgets, rather than promoting a
singular architectural vision or style. The Guffin House is quite large for the context of its
original owners, an older couple on the verge of being empty-nesters. It is far less grand in
design and appearance than many of the contemporaneous houses of its size in Riverside, yet still
has many ostentatious features, including the balcony, the diamond-pattern transom windows,
and large front porch. Inside it uses plain douglas fir throughout, but still has some nice
architectural details like the curved skirt on the stairs. The Guffin House is not the Rumsey
House (designed a little over a year later by Boggs, and also featuring a balcony), but it is not
trying to be. We see the Guffin House as a visual demonstration of Guffin’s successes in
Riverside, married to his salt-of-the-earth Midwestern roots. Naming the Guffin House as a
Structure of Merit would allow another Boggs house to be known and preserved, contributing to
the city’s ability to understand this architect and his creations.

P19-0227, Exhibit 4 - Historic Designation Application



21. Bibliography

Newspaper mentions

“L.H. Guffin and family have moved into their handsome new home...” Riverside Daily Press,
December 8, 1899, p. 8.

“Plans and specifications for a seven room house which L.H. Guffin is to build...,” Riverside
Enterprise, September 23, 1899, p. 5.

“The framework for the new house which L.H. Guffin is having erected...,” Riverside
Enterprise, October 1, 1899, p. 8.

“The new house which L.H. Guffin will have built...” Riverside Enterprise, September 24, 1899,
p- 5.

Pictured/Mentioned in:

Riverside Fire Department, Souvenir of the City of Riverside. RFD, 1906. (reproduced on p.
114), also reprinted by Riverside Museum Associates, 1987.

Silva, Sally. “More House Moves!” Old Riverside Foundation News, Winter 2005, p. 7.

Cultural Heritage Board-related documents:

City of Riverside Planning Department, Certificate of Appropriateness Staff Report. Planning
Case P04-0107, February 18, 2004.

Cultural Heritage Board minutes, February 17, 1988. “Nomination of 3197 First Street as a
Structure of Merit,” p. 1-2.

Curl, Alan. Memo to Cultural Heritage Board: “Structure of Merit Nominations for 3197 First
..., dated February 8, 1988

P19-0227, Exhibit 4 - Historic Designation Application



22. Photographs

The Guffin House as seen in the 1906 Souvenir of the City of Riverside.

The Guffin House at 3197 Lime St. in 1979 (from a city report). Note the presence of an addition
to the balcony which is not original, and was removed sometime between 1979 and 2006 when

the house was moved to Lime Street.
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The Guffin House at 3197 Lime St. from 2004 Cultural Heritage Board report (P04-0107).

House positioned at 2926 Lime St. (circa 2006). Original photo by Donna Harlow.
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Front/street view of 2926 Lime Street, photographed March 2019.

Side (roughly southern facing) view of 2926 Lime Street, photographed March 2019.
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Side (roughly northern facing) view of 2926 Lime Street, photographed March 2019.

Rear (roughly eastern facing) view of 2926 Lime Street, photographed March 2019.
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Top of staircase, showing curved wood skirt (in process of restoration), photographed March
2019.
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